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Six tales from the era of great locomotives
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I T WAS ARTHUR ALDER’S last
day on the job. For over 40
years, his chosen vocation
had been steam locomotive
maintenance, a craft he had

practiced for the most part in Ca-
nadian National’s giant Stratford
(Ontario) motive-power shop. This
place had repaired its first steam
locomotives 90 years before. By
now, though, steam operations on
CNR had ended a year and a half
ago, and Stratford had outshopped
its last locomotive for regular serv-
ice. The massive facility, always
dedicated to steam power, was in
its death throes. Alder would spend
this day, November 30, 1961, in
farewells to his mates and reflec-
tions on a career—and a way of life

—that was winding down.
The tracks of the Grand Trunk

Railway of Canada first reached
Stratford in 1856. The city is in the
heart of southwestern Ontario,
about midway between Toronto
and the U.S. border on the GTR’s
main line to Chicago. By 1870,
Stratford had become the center of
GTR’s regional operations, and the
railway logically selected it as the
site of new locomotive and car
shops. The shops opened in 1871.

Despite having shifted heavy-car
repair in 1888 to new facilities in
London, Ont., 33 miles southwest,
GTR was obliged to rebuild, modi-
fy, and expand Stratford shops to
keep ahead of an expanding fleet of
locomotives, which were ever
longer and heavier. Four times GTR
enlarged the shop, in 1888, 1904,
1908, and 1919. When Alder began
his apprenticeship with the Grand
Trunk, the original two-building,

Stratford Shop became Canadian National’s 
biggest–and last–steam overhaul facility

By James A. Brown • Photos by the author

Mountain 6001 rides above Consolidation
2721 in Stratford’s vast erecting hall on
December 29, 1958. Within three months,
even minor steam repairs would cease here. 

9decades
in the service of

steam



39,000-square-foot shop of 1871 had
evolved into a complex that exceeded
275,000 square feet. 

By 1923, though, after amassing a
4800-mile system (one quarter of it in
the U.S.) from 125 individual railways,
Grand Trunk was on its financial knees.
On January 23, 1923, the GTR became
part of Canadian National Railways, a
creation of the Canadian government.
Under CNR stewardship, the Stratford
main shop was expanded again, in
1928 and one more time in 1948-50, be-
coming—at 313,000 square feet—the
largest main shop on the CNR system.

As Alder strolled around the now-
quiet stores building and powerhouse,
past his old haunts in the tender shop,
boiler shop, and machine shop, and
into the vaulted hall of the erecting
shop, he reflected on the days when the
“Big Shop” (as it was known to Strat-
ford railroaders) literally trembled with
activity. 

It was organized chaos, and a smor-
gasbord for the senses. There was the
hum of generators and electrical ma-
chines; a never-ending sibilance of
steam and compressed air and welders’

torches; the heavy thud of the steam
hammer; a gear whine as the overhead
crane eased a 150-ton locomotive down
the length of the erecting hall, high
above the engines below; the booming
shop whistle, which regulated not only
the Big Shop’s activities but seemingly
all of Stratford’s as well; an amalgam
of smells—hot oil, solvents, freshly
milled wood, coal smoke, paint; and
everywhere a cacophony of percussion
from shop machines and hand tools
and material trolleys.

He recalled the locomotives. All
steam, of course. There were switchers,
Moguls, Ten-Wheelers, Consolidations,
Pacifics, Hudsons, Mikados, Mountains,
Northerns, Santa Fes. There were other
creatures repaired at the Big Shop, too
—cranes and “doodlebug” railcars most-
ly—but their needs were minor com-
pared to the work required by the
steamers. No diesel locomotive ever re-
ceived classified repairs at Stratford.

Then there were the men. Over Al-
der’s career, so many men. Through its
apprenticeship programs, Stratford
trained—and Arthur Alder worked
alongside—hundreds and hundreds of

machinists, pipefitters, boilermakers,
blacksmiths, and electricians. Many of
these men went on to assignments else-
where on the CNR. But many also
chose to spend their entire career in
Stratford; it was a closely knit family. 

A few diesels began appearing on
CNR trains in the Central Region in the
late 1940’s, but in the early ’50’s hun-
dreds were added to the roster, more
were on order, and the handwriting on
the wall was becoming unmistakable.
Around the Big Shop there grew an un-
easy sense of foreboding. In 1953, with
more than 2400 steam engines still on
the roster, CNR confirmed their fears:
Stratford would not take on diesel re-
pairs, and the shop was expected to be
closed within a decade. The shock was
palpable.

Still, the Big Shop had never been
busier, as other CNR backshops—at
Montreal, Moncton, Battle Creek, and
Winnipeg—began repairing diesels,
and more and more of their steam
work was sent to Stratford. In 1955,
when overall dieselization was far ad-
vanced in the U.S., Stratford’s Big Shop
overhauled 290 steam engines. The
next year saw production reach an all-

In January 1959, Stratford men cut apart the
frame of 4-8-2 6032, being scrapped less than
two years after receiving classified repairs here. 

Like one who is gravely ill, the shop enjoyed 
a magnificent rally just before the end. 
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time high: 370 locomotives, eclipsing
even the frenetic output during World
War II. More than 1500 employees
worked in the Shop, on 48-hour weeks,
to keep up with the demand.

Despite it all, though, steam’s days
were clearly numbered. Locomotive re-
tirements and scrappings were brutal.
By mid-1958, CNR’s roster was down
to about 1300 steamers, many of them
stored and never to run again. Alder re-
called a somber meeting at the Big
Shop that June, which detailed a pro-
gram of layoffs for 850 men and pro-
posed a “temporary work program” for
those more senior. Major overhauls for
Central Region engines had ended, and
the shop was keeping busy with minor
work, mostly converting from coal- to
oil-burning some locomotives destined
for the Western Region. (Ironically,
some of these locomotives were laid up
before completing their journeys west,
to be scrapped without having turned a
revenue wheel after their conversion.) 

Thus, beneath its Sword of Damo-
cles, Stratford’s sights and sounds of
steam continued through 1958, and
freshly painted locomotives were
turned out ready for service at the rate
of two or three a week.

It couldn’t last. The final oil-burner,
2-8-2 3552, was outshopped on Janu-
ary 12, 1959, and light repairs to the
few engines still in service were all
done by the end of March. Like one
who is gravely ill, CNR’s Stratford Mo-
tive Power Shop enjoyed a magnificent
rally just before the end. But inevitably
the end did come.

It came for CNR regular-service
steam, in fact, while Alder was still em-
ployed at Stratford. In the U.S., on
March 27, 1960, Grand Trunk Western
4-8-4’s 6319 and 6322 operated the “last
regular major run” of steam in the
country, on two sections of passenger
trains 21 and 56 from Detroit to Du-
rand, Mich., and return, although GTW
did use steam sporadically on freight
and the occasional passenger train for
a short time thereafter. A month after
GTW’s ceremonial day, on April 25,
1960, CNR 4-8-2 6043 rang down the
curtain on system steam operation
when it hauled train 76 from The Pas
to Winnipeg, Manitoba.

Oh yes, Alder recalled, there was
other work at Stratford after that: re-
building cranes, fabricating track com-
ponents, scrapping of steam engines,
odd things. And a portion of the shop
had been leased to Cooper-Bessemer
for its then-expanding Canadian mar-
ket for heavy diesel and gas engines
and compressors. But the spirit of
steam was gone.

Well, not completely. As he reached
the east end of the Big Shop’s erecting
hall on his last day of service, Alder
paused for a moment at Pit 4 to reflect
on 4-8-4 6167, in for Class 5 (minor) re-
pairs after two seasons of excursion
service. For a few moments, he savored

the memories. Then he turned his back
on the big engine and slipped out of the
great building for the last time. y

POSTSCRIPT: One of Stratford Big Shop’s
last-ever tasks was the overhaul of 4-8-4
6218 in November 1963, to replace 6167
in excursion duties. Arthur Alder would 
have been pleased. On March 31, 1964,
all remaining Stratford Shop employees
were transferred, retired, or laid off, and
the facility was finally closed, 93 years
after it all began.

Dressed in a suit for his last day on the job,
Arthur Alder inspects excursion-service 4-8-4
6167, back at Stratford for Class 5 repairs.

Back from a 5-mile test run, 4-8-4 6221 hostles
freshly shopped Western Lines 2-8-0 2721 out-
side the Erecting Shop annex in January 1959.
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More on our website
See a movie clip of Canadian National steam
in action, plus more on Stratford Shop, at our
website, www.classictrainsmag.com


